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Lombard Medical Technologies (LMT) is a
specialist cardiovascular device and polymer
coatings company which focuses on
discovering, developing and commercialising
innovative products that address the unmet
needs of medical professionals across 
the world. LMT’s technological expertise
results in products with competitive 
design advantages.
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An operator checks the
stitching on an Aorfix™

endovascular stent graft.
Aorfix™ has a unique design
structure that offers remarkable
conformity to the patient’s
anatomy in the treatment of
abdominal aortic aneurysms.

LMT’s development and
manufacturing facilities in Didcot,
Oxfordshire are fully certified
under international quality
standards (ISO 13485) and
include a certified Class 10,000
clean room so that devices can
be assembled and packaged in
sterile conditions. 

Unlike competitor products
the Aorfix™ endovascular stent
graft is produced using a circular
sewing machine patented by
LMT.

The use of a circular sewing
machine has several advantages
over hand stitching, namely that:
it’s quicker; it produces stitches
of a uniform size; and an
electronic record is made of
every stitch.

n Front Cover
“The Aorfix™ endovascular stent
graft is the only device which 
did not develop endoleaks,
regardless of the angulation of
the neck of the abdominal aorta.”
(Jean-Noel Albertini, MD et al.,
Hospital Robert Debre, Reims,
France.) 

 



Our Values

n To improve the quality of life of patients with cardiovascular disease through the
application of sound biomedical engineering principles.

n To adhere to state of the art development programmes, good manufacturing practices
and ethical distribution policies.

n To strive for the highest reliability and quality in our products and become recognised
for establishing improved manufacturing, testing and clinical benchmarks.

n To treat all our employees equally and fairly, providing an environment for individual
development and a means to share in the Company’s success.

Aorfix™ bifurcated stent graft
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2005 has been a year of change and
considerable progress. The successful
flotation on the Alternative Investment
Market of the London Stock Exchange
(AIM) that raised £26.2 million before
expenses has given Lombard Medical
Technologies (LMT) the funds to implement
its key strategic objectives. Meanwhile
the new Board appointments have given
LMT an experienced management
team to execute those objectives.

The Company’s product pipeline has made significant advances
during the year; most notably with the FDA granting an IDE to
commence US clinical trials with LMT’s flagship endovascular stent
graft, Aorfix™. Commercialisation of Aorfix™ in Europe, where it already
has a CE Mark, has also moved ahead despite a shortage of funds
for most of the year. Boston Scientific has also demonstrated its
continued interest in the product through its participation in the
IPO placing, when it invested a further $3 million, bringing its total
investment in LMT to $9 million.

Funding
LMT raised a total of £30.9 million before expenses in 2005 giving the
Company a market capitalisation of £77.7 million at the time of float.
Of the capital raised, £3.1 million came from an issue of preference
shares in October, £1.6 million from an issue of ordinary shares to
Camden Partners at the time of the flotation and £26.2 million on
flotation through the placing of 16.5 million shares with a group of
leading UK and European institutions at a price of 159 pence per share.

The ability of LMT to raise such a large amount in a competitive
marketplace is testament to the strength of its business and growth
prospects. The proceeds from the placing are being used to:

n fund the US clinical trials programme for the Aorfix™ stent graft;

n commence EU and US trials of a thoracic stent graft;

n develop clinical support and marketing infrastructure; and

n strengthen the balance sheet.

Board Changes
In October, Stephen Terry resigned from his position as CEO due to 
ill health, however he continues to provide the Company with valuable
assistance as Operations Adviser on a part-time basis. In November,
John Kerslake resigned from his position as CFO and the Board
would like to thank Stephen and John for their contribution towards
LMT’s progress over the last few years and in particular their valuable
assistance with the IPO process.

With the appointment of Brian Howlett in November, LMT gained a
Chief Executive with an excellent track record of growing sales, and
extensive experience in the medical device industry having served as
General Manager of Boston Scientific Limited for six years. Tim Hall, 
a chartered accountant with extensive senior financial management
experience gained in the pharmaceutical industry notably with
Celltech, Medeva and Glaxo Welcome plc, also joined the Board
in November as Finance Director.

There have also been changes in the composition of the Non-
executive Directors with Tony Canning and Richard Berkley resigning
in November and December respectively, and Michael Stevens and
Nigel Gray joining the Board in November. The Board would like to
thank Tony and Richard for their valuable support and contributions
to the Company, and welcome Michael and Nigel who both have
a wealth of experience in the medical device industry that LMT 
can now call upon.

Chairman’s Statement
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Commercialisation
The Company currently markets its AorfixTM stent graft directly through 
its own sales force in the UK and through distributors in 17 other
countries.   

The launch in April 2006 of an improved version of AorfixTM, with
greater flexibility (anticipated to improve access through tortuous iliac
arteries), electropolished wire (to improve corrosion resistance) and
more radio opaque markers (to improve visibility of the device under
x-ray) is expected to help accelerate sales.

The publication of an abstract in the Vascular journal by Jean-Noel
Albertini, MD et al. at the Vascular Surgery Department, Hospital
Robert Debre, Reims, France, which concluded that the Company’s
AorfixTM stent graft was the only device which did not develop
endoleaks, regardless of the angulation of the neck of the abdominal
aorta, was extremely gratifying. It was very pleasing to see the
publication of this report endorsing the benefits of LMT’s AorfixTM stent
graft and there is a growing body of evidence to suggest that AorfixTM

is the only stent graft that can successfully treat abdominal aortic
aneurysms in severely angulated necks.

In October, Boston Scientific Limited was granted an extension, until
30 August 2006, to their existing option to act as exclusive distributor
of the Company’s stent grafts for the treatment of abdominal aortic
aneurysms and thoracic aortic aneurysms in territories outside the
USA. The extension was granted to allow Boston Scientific more time
to complete due diligence on the Company’s products, processes
and intellectual property.  

Development
LMT has received an IDE from the FDA to commence US clinical trials
of AorfixTM. The trial begins in Q1 2006 and is due to be completed in
Q1 2008, with FDA approval expected either in Q4 2008 or Q1 2009.  

Significant progress was also made during the year on LMT’s unique
endovascular stapler. The initial market for this device will be for the 

endovascular fixation of first-generation AAA stent grafts that have
begun to migrate. European CE Mark approval for this device is
expected in the first half of the year with FDA approval, following
a small trial, in early 2007.

Good progress has been made over the last year on LMT’s thoracic
stent graft and European clinical trials are expected to start in Q3
of 2006 with US clinical trials following in the second half of 2007.

Employees
LMT’s progress during the past year is due above all to the
contributions of its employees and their commitment to the
Company’s future. The Board would like to thank them for their
efforts during a challenging year.

Alistair Taylor
Executive Chairman
21 March 2006
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n Successful flotation on the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange
(AIM) raising £26.2 million before expenses.

n Investigational Device Exemption (IDE) approval received from the FDA for a pivotal US
clinical trial of the Aorfix™ endovascular stent graft in the treatment of abdominal aortic
aneurysms.

n The appointment of four new Board members with a wealth of experience in the medical
device and related industries.

n Several improvements to Aorfix™ filed with the Notified Body for approval in Europe.

n Significant progress made with the development of an endovascular stapler for the
fixation of stent grafts. CE Mark approval in Europe expected in the first half of 2006.

2005 Highlights



Development of the Aorfix™ endovascular
stent graft has progressed on several
fronts in the last year with the FDA
granting IDE approval for the US clinical
trial and the 100 implant milestone being
reached in Europe, some of which have
now been in place for up to four years.  

The prevalence of abdominal aortic aneurysms (AAA) is increasing
and there is an estimated 1.7 million Americans who are unaware that
they have AAA, with only 250,000 to 350,000 being diagnosed each
year. The US market for AAA stent grafts is forecast to reach over
$0.5 billion by 2008 and we anticipate that the worldwide market will
be over $1 billion by 2010. This growth will be stimulated partly as 
a result of legislation for one-time ultrasound screening for AAAs 
to commence in the USA in early 2007. Similar legislation is planned
for the UK and other markets.

LMT is also developing a stent graft for the treatment of thoracic
aortic aneurysms (TAA), which is nearing completion. Estimates of
the number of annual diagnoses range from 15,000 to 30,000 in the
USA, with more than 16,000 diagnosed in Europe annually. Like AAA,
TAA are believed to be under-diagnosed, since most patients are
asymptomatic. An estimated 70% of TAA are currently not treated,
but this number is expected to fall in the coming years. Thoracic stent
grafts hold great promise, not only for the treatment of TAAs but also
for other anomalies of the thoracic aorta, including acute and chronic
dissections, penetrating ulcers, pseudo-aneurysms and traumatic
injuries. It is for these reasons that we believe that the TAA stent graft
market has the potential to grow substantially to $1 billion by 2010.

In addition LMT is developing an endovascular stapler to complement
its existing open surgery stapler. Several of the first-generation stent
grafts have inadequate fixation, which can result in the migration of
the graft. The endovascular stapler has demonstrated in vitro an
ability to fix strongly a migrating stent graft, so that it has the potential
to be not only a repair device but also used in new implantations.
With the potential growth in TAA stent grafts, fixation becomes even

more of an issue as the thoracic aorta is a very dynamic anatomical
environment. A further application is in the less invasive fixation of
percutaneous heart valves which is a new and fast developing market.
We have opened discussions with third parties with regard to
licensing and/or distribution arrangements for the endovascular line.

The Company’s Polymer Coatings Division has developed a series 
of products, including drug delivery coatings for coronary stents that
will deliver one or more drugs on a programmable basis. We are in
discussions with several companies with a view to licensing out the
coatings for the treatment of coronary and peripheral vascular disease
as well as applications for urology and dermatology.

Commercialisation
LMT has made considerable commercial progress during 2005.
Turnover increased by over fourfold from £40,000 at the end of 2004
to £169,000 at the end of last year. Successful achievements include:

n the establishment of reference centres for the implantation of the
AorfixTM AAA stent graft in the UK and Ireland, Greece and Poland;

n the roll-out of implantation of the AorfixTM AAA stent graft in
12 countries throughout Europe;

n the strong performance of LMT’s AorfixTM AAA stent graft in
more than 100 clinical and commercial implants. No endoleaks,
migration or kinking of the device have been experienced.
Several AAA bifurcated stent grafts have exceeded 24 months
of implantation and the uni-iliac device has nearly four years of
implant experience; performance to date has been excellent 
for both devices;

n significant progress has been made in developing the TAA
device and the endovascular stapler to pre-clinical trials as well
as progressing proprietary medical device coating technology 
for a variety of applications in the cardiovascular, urology and
dermatology markets. A CE mark has been granted for wound
dressings based on hydrogels that have been outlicensed to
Brightwake Limited for launch in the UK in the first half of 2006;

n the recent approval of the IDE by the FDA in the USA to
commence FDA-approved clinical trials (PYTHAGORAS); and

Chief Executive’s Review of Operations
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Simplicity
in complex situations
The Aorfix™ endovascular stent graft is based on an
unrivalled innovative but simple design which addresses
the shortcomings of many existing AAA stent grafts.
These limitations are caused by lack of flexibility and
difficulty of application, due to complex delivery systems
and the inability of the stent graft to cope with aneurysm
remodelling post-implant.

LMT works closely with clinicians in the development 
of its devices to ensure that they remain simple to use 
in the most complicated of settings.
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Fit
for long-lasting connection
The unique coil design of Aorfix™ not only gives it
unrivalled flexibility but also ensures a good fit
around the neck of the aneurysm regardless of the
angle between the neck and the main body of the
aneurysm. Furthermore, nitinol barbs around the top
of the graft hold it firmly in place and ensure that 
the graft does not migrate down into the aneurysm
over time. Stent migration leading to endoleaks is 
still a problem with several competitor products.
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n the successful raising of £30.9 million before expenses to fund
future commercial and product developments in the Company.

Business Goals and Strategies
LMT’s objective is to become a leading developer of innovative
solutions for the treatment of cardiovascular and other diseases 
of importance to global morbidity and mortality.  

Successful elements of our business strategy will continue as follows:

n to focus on unmet clinical, patient and health economic needs
in the Company’s core markets – AAA, TAA and surgical joining;

n to continue to develop existing products – AAA and TAA 
stent grafts, a stapling device for use in open surgery and 
an endovascular stapler that can be used to secure migrating
AAA stent grafts;

n to develop new products and innovate new treatment methods;
for example our plans include the development of lower-profile
stent grafts that will widen application to include women and
other patients with smaller vessels as well as reducing in-
hospital stay to overnight or day-case;

n to work on second-generation drug eluting polymers that 
can be used to improve further the excellent restenosis rates
achieved by current drug eluting stents in coronary artery
disease;

n to focus on the USA and EU as primary markets for our
technologies. The USA has the largest population that could
benefit from our existing and planned products and has an
advantageous climate for re-imbursement; through 2006 and
2007 LMT will be dedicated to conducting FDA-approved
clinical trials in the USA to gain the earliest possible entry 
of our stent graft products to that market; and

n to develop strategic partnerships with leading medical device
companies for marketing, distribution and licensing – the
Company has signed an agreement with Boston Scientific
whereby they have an option to distribute our AorfixTM stent 
graft products in markets outside the USA.

Operations and Staffing
Our new Board of Directors and management team have extensive
experience in commercialising medical devices that have brought
positive change and expansion to existing markets such as the one
for cardiovascular devices.

During 2006 a significant step forward for our business will be the
establishment of a base for our operations in the USA, the major
world market for medical devices. As a measure of our commitment
to this market Peter Phillips, the present Managing Director for the
Cardiovascular Devices Division, will assume the title of President of
Lombard Medical Technologies Inc., and he will relocate with his wife
and family to the Boston area where our US facility will be located.
Peter will have operational and regulatory support as well as clinical
managers for both the East and West coasts of the USA.

Peter’s responsibilities will include:

n the establishment of US infrastructure for Lombard Medical
Technologies;

n implementation of the US FDA clinical programme for AorfixTM

in both AAA and TAA applications;

n strategic relationships with major US medical device
companies;

n the establishment of centres of clinical excellence in the USA 
for LMT products; and 

n obtaining FDA approval for the Company’s endovascular stapler.

We wish Peter well in his new assignment.

The Company is also looking to recruit a Worldwide Director of
Regulatory Affairs who will support Peter in the pivotal US clinical trials
and FDA approval of the AAA and TAA applications of AorfixTM, as well
as in the FDA approval of the endovascular stapler. The Worldwide
Director of Regulatory Affairs will also be responsible for supporting
and directing the headquarters’ regulatory affairs staff in the UK, in
their regulatory submissions and activities in markets outside the US,
with particular emphasis on Europe and Japan.

Chief Executive’s Review of Operations continued

Each stent graft is packed
into the delivery device under
clean room conditions, packaged
and sent to an outside
contractor for sterilisation.

Strict quality control
procedures are adhered to in
order to ensure that the product
meets both European and US
regulatory standards.

Special tools have been
engineered to pack the stent
graft into the delivery device.

LMT employs a number of
highly skilled engineers able to
design and produce new
prototype devices.



Outside the USA we have strengthened our direct sales force in the
UK to develop strategic partnerships with centres of excellence. In
addition we are appointing four clinical/sales specialists in continental
Europe who will boost the speed of adoption of AorfixTM through 
in-hospital training of the AorfixTM technology and support our
distributors in the development of AorfixTM market share in key
markets such as Italy and Germany. These efforts will be led by
Andrew Tasker as International Sales and Marketing Director. 
Andrew joins us with a wealth of experience and success in senior
international sales and marketing positions in the pharmaceutical 
and medical device sectors, most recently with Pfizer.

As clinical data and experience with AorfixTM grows we will ensure 
a high profile at all the major vascular surgery and interventional
radiology congresses throughout the coming year.

The management team will be further strengthened by the addition of a
strategic and operational human resource person who will ensure that
the organisation develops and grows in line with business requirements.

Strong product development capabilities are essential to enhancing
the Company’s core technologies, developing new product
applications for these technologies and maintaining competitiveness.
LMT has invested a significant amount of human and financial
resources in research and development. We have assembled a team
of highly experienced engineers, scientists and technicians which will
be expanded in 2006 in order to develop further enhancements to 
our existing products and innovative new product approaches to the
treatment of cardiovascular disease. Examples of future anticipated
developments include:

n redesign of components to facilitate increased automation
of manufacture;

n increased product size ranges for both AAA and TAA stent grafts;

n improved markers to aid visualisation on X-ray;

n continuously woven graft material to produce a smaller implant
and delivery system; and

n investigation into new materials and processes to reduce the
profile of the implant further and, therefore, the size of the
delivery system.

The Company is also boosting its investment in its manufacturing
operations as our sales and clinical trial uptake accelerate during
2006 and beyond. We will continue as key objectives:

n to reduce unit cost further;

n to maintain high standards of reliability; and

n to implement continuous quality improvement.

In summary
I am confident that in 2006 LMT will make a major breakthrough
towards full commercialisation of our innovative technologies. In the
words of Ron Fairman, MD of the University of Pennsylvania, “The
AorfixTM device really enhances our ability to extend the technology to
more patients. It is a real contribution, not just another device…”. 
Dr Fairman is the principal investigator of the LMT PYTHAGORAS
trial in the USA.  

The LMT team is proud to have brought to the market less invasive
technologies that pose less risk and trauma to patients, improve
healthcare productivity and offer more clinical choices to medical
practitioners. 

Brian Howlett
Chief Executive Officer
21 March 2006
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Chief Executive’s Review of Operations continued

The barbs on an Aorfix™

stent graft are checked on a
shadow graph as part of the
Company’s rigorous quality
control procedures. 

The nitinol barbs at the 
top of the Aorfix™ stent graft
ensure good fixation, whilst the
coil design gives the product
unrivalled flexibility.

In laboratories at our
Polymer Coatings Division in
Sheffield scientists work in
partnership with pharmaceutical
companies and academic
institutions to develop innovative
new drug eluting coatings for
coronary stents.
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Durability
in cardiovascular devices
To prove that the Aorfix™ design is safe and effective,
LMT have completed extensive durability testing using
their own patented high-frequency pulsatile fatigue
test system to simulate the effects of implanting 
the device into the cardiovascular system. Aorfix™

successfully completes fatigue tests simulating over
ten years of implantation time in an aneurysm with 
no effects to its structural integrity.

Furthermore to ensure that the device is durable
enough to withstand implantation, a system has 
been developed to simulate the deployment 
process and test the performance of the 
delivery system in the most difficult situations.



Turnover 
Turnover consisted entirely of sales of Aorfix™ which rose over fourfold
to £169,000 (2004: £40,000). Sales growth reflected the Company’s
focus on the establishment of reference centres for the implantation 
of Aorfix™ as the first phase of its commercialisation strategy. In 2006
the Company moves into the next phase of its commercialisation
strategy, aided by the funds from the IPO to invest in sales and
marketing infrastructure.

The majority of sales were to European distributors with those to the
Greek and Irish distributors, which together represented over 50% 
of sales, being particularly encouraging. 

Gross Profit
Gross profit for the year was £82,000 (2004: £24,000). The gross
margin of 48.5% (2004: 60%) reflected the high proportion of sales 
to distributors, the relatively low volumes and discounts given to new
customers.

Operating Expenses Before Goodwill Amortisation and
Exceptional Items
Operating expenses before goodwill amortisation and exceptional
items rose by £2.7 million to £6.8 million (2004: £4.1 million).
Increased investment in R&D to £3.2 million (2004: £1.8 million) 
and a step change in sales and marketing costs to £0.9 million 
(2004: £0.3 million) accounted for the majority of the increase, with 
the remainder coming from an increase in general and administration
costs to £2.7 million (2004: £2.0 million). 

Exceptional Items
A breakdown of the exceptional charges for the year is detailed below.

£’m

Corporate finance and associated corporate advisory expenses 0.5
Bank facility forbearance and arrangement fees 0.6
Board and other restructuring costs 0.7

1.8

Whilst costs of £2.0 million directly related to the IPO and associated
placing have been set against the share premium account, other costs
linked to the IPO and preference share issues but not directly related to
these fund raisings, such as those for market research and advice given 

on running a public company, have been included in the profit and loss
account as an exceptional item.

Prior to the IPO the Company’s financial position was uncertain and
the Company was dependent upon the support of its bank for its
continued operation. Overdraft and other fees related to this
continued support totalled £0.6 million.

In November 2005, Stephen Terry and John Kerslake resigned from
the Board. Their compensation for loss of office totalling £0.5 million
is included as an exceptional item along with the termination costs
of several sales force personnel.  

Goodwill Amortisation and Impairment Charges
Goodwill amortisation was £1.3 million (2004: £0.7 million).
In September 2004 LMT acquired 100% of the business and assets
of its 94.4% subsidiary, Lombard Medical Plc for £25.1 million which
was satisfied by way of an intra-Group loan. The minority interest in
this loan of £1.8 million (after adjusting for partly paid shares) was
accounted for as an increase in goodwill and amortised over its
remaining economic life of four years. This resulted in an increase 
in goodwill amortisation to £1.3 million (2004: £0.7 million). 

The Company has shareholdings in two unquoted medical device
companies, Endoart SA and Vascular Concepts Holdings Limited.
In 2004, the book value of the Company’s investment in Endoart SA
was written-down by £0.9 million so that the value per share of the
Company’s holding equalled that of new equity being issued by
Endoart SA. No further impairment was considered necessary in 2005.

Net Interest Payable
Net interest payable in the year was £1.9 million including preference
share dividends and appropriations in accordance with FRS 25.
The same costs and appropriations in 2004 totalled £1.7 million.
The increase was primarily due to a higher average number of
preference shares in issue in 2005.

Taxation 
The R&D tax credits recoverable are only recorded on receipt of
confirmation of our claim. The 2004 accounts include an R&D tax
credit recoverable of £0.2 million in respect of 2003. No confirmation
has been received in relation to R&D tax credits for 2004 and hence
there is no such credit in the 2005 accounts.

Finance Director’s Report
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Loss for the Financial Year
The loss for the financial year was £11.7 million (2004: £8.0 million).
The increase of £3.7 million was principally due to higher operating
costs, exceptional charges, goodwill and net interest payable partially
offset by the reduction in impairment charge.

Capital Expenditure and Financial Investment
Capital expenditure and financial investments in the year of £0.7
million (2004: £0.2 million) included a £0.2 million investment in
Endoart SA and the purchase of various patents and intellectual
property relating to Aorfix™ from Pearsalls Sutures, a division of
Bridport (UK) Limited, for £0.4 million. The further investment in
Endoart SA was made to avoid a significant dilution in the Company’s
existing shareholding, whilst the intellectual property purchase ensures
that no further royalties are due to Pearsalls on sales of Aorfix™.   

Operating Cash Flow
Net cash outflow before financing for the year rose by £3.8 million to
£8.6 million (2004: £4.8 million) primarily due to: the increased loss for
the financial year; higher fixed asset investments; the decrease in non-
cash charges (depreciation, amortisation and impairments); partially
offset by decreases in working capital and higher tax receipts.  

Financing and Share Restructuring
The Company successfully raised a total of £30.9 million before
expenses in 2005 of which £3.1 million came from an issue of
convertible preference shares in October, £1.6 million from an issue 
of ordinary shares to Camden Partners at the time of the flotation and
£26.2 million on flotation through the placing of 16.5 million ordinary
shares with a group of leading UK and European institutions at a
price of 159 pence per share. Expenses related to these share issues
totalled £2.7 million.

Following flotation loans and overdrafts totalling £6 million were repaid.

Further to resolutions passed at the Extraordinary General Meeting
held on 5 December 2005 all convertible preference shares of
1 pence each were subdivided and converted into an ordinary share
of 0.138 pence and a deferred share. Subsequently all ordinary
shares of 0.138 pence each were consolidated and subdivided into
new ordinary shares of 2 pence each.

The deferred shares have no economic value and authority for their
cancellation will be sought at the Annual General Meeting on 9 May
2006.

Treasury
The Company’s policy is to invest surplus funds in money-market and
short-term bank deposits. The Company seeks to maximise returns
whilst at the same time safeguarding the principal by only placing
deposits through institutions with good credit ratings.  

As at December 2005 LMT had cash and short-term deposits of
£16.3 million.

Loss Per Share
The net loss per share, based on an average of 7.9 million shares in
issue during the year, was 148.4 pence, an increase of 5% over the
previous year (2004: 140.8 pence).

Headcount
Headcount at 31 December 2005 was 49 (2004: 40).

Post Balance Sheet Event.
On 28 February 2006 at an Extraordinary General Meeting of LMT’s
94.4% owned subsidiary Lombard Medical Plc, a special resolution
was passed for the Company to be voluntarily wound up. Lombard
Medical Plc has not traded since September 2004 when its business
and assets were sold to LMT for £25.1 million. The consideration was
satisfied by way of an intra-Group loan that became repayable on
demand following LMT’s flotation. A members’ voluntary liquidation of
Lombard Medical Plc is the most cost-effective method of distributing
the minority shareholders’ interest in the remaining assets of the
company.

Tim Hall
Finance Director
21 March 2006



Alistair Taylor
Executive Chairman
Alistair (64) was appointed to the
Board in 2000. He has ten years’
experience in the pharmaceutical
industry and over 27 years’
experience in medical devices,
mainly in interventional cardiology
and radiology, and vascular 
and cardiovascular surgery. He
was Chief Executive Officer of
Biocompatibles International plc
from July 1994 to February
1998. During this period the

company progressed from a technology-based start up company,
through flotation to a FTSE 250 company. Prior to this Alistair was
Chief Executive Officer of Schneider Inc, a Swiss interventional
cardiology/radiology device company. During this time the company’s
turnover grew to $100 million. Schneider was subsequently sold by
Pfizer Inc., its parent for over $2 billion.

Brian Howlett
Chief Executive Officer
Brian (61) was appointed to the
Board in November 2005. Prior
to joining LMT, Brian was General
Manager of Boston Scientific Ltd
for six years. During this period
the company became the leading
subsidiary in Europe by sales
and profits, and introduced a
number of medical devices within
the UK market which experienced
rapid adoption. Brian has over
20 years’ experience in the

pharmaceutical industry, having served as Managing Director and
Business Development Director of Cobe Laboratories Ltd. He has 
a strong sales and marketing background gained through a number
of senior sales and marketing positions with Fisons PLC.

Board of Directors
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Tim Hall
Finance Director
Tim (43) joined the Board in
November 2005. He is a
chartered accountant with
extensive senior financial
management experience gained
in the pharmaceutical industry.
Prior to joining LMT, Tim served
as Chief Financial Officer at
Celltech Pharmaceuticals for
over four years during which 
time he helped refocus the
business by managing both 

a strategic product acquisition and company acquisition. He also
served as Director of Strategic Planning at Medeva PLC and has 
held senior financial planning positions at Glaxo-Wellcome plc and
Wellcome plc as well as Medeva PLC. Tim started his career at
Touche Ross & Co before moving to Wellcome plc where he held 
a number of head office finance positions.

Richard Johnston
Non-executive Director
Richard (70) was appointed to the
Board in 2003 and is Chairman
of the Audit Committee. He is 
a partner of Camden Partners
Holdings LLC, where he focuses
on investments in the health care
and business services sectors.
Richard has over 40 years of
investment experience and serves
on the boards of Atricure, Inc,
COHR Inc., Medivance Inc.,
Pharmanetics, Inc., and

Webmedix Inc., all of which are Camden Partners’ portfolio companies.
Previously, Richard was Vice President of Investments and a director
of The Hillman Company, an investment holding company with
diversified operations, where he was employed from 1961 to 2000.
From June 1970 he was responsible for deal origination and investor
representative relations with numerous private equity financings,
including HBO, Medical Care International and Rehab Services 
among many others in health care. Richard also managed marketable
securities portfolios for Hillman entities, including small cap-portfolios,
and originated and/or monitored limited partnership holdings in
numerous private equity funds. He has been an adviser to several
private equity funds, including Bridge Capital, Health Care Capital
Partners and T. Rowe Price Threshold Funds. 



Professor Martin Rothman
Independent Non-executive
Director
Martin (57) was appointed to 
the Board on 11 July 2003
having been appointed to the
board of Lombard Medical Plc 
in 2000. Martin is Chairman of
the Remuneration Committee. 
He is a consultant cardiologist
and cardiac research and
development director at Barts
and the London NHS Trust. He 
is also honorary senior lecturer 

to the Medical College of St Mary Westfield, University of London and
lectures regularly in cardiology and related subjects. He travels
worldwide to give lectures and demonstrations to professional audiences
in Cardiology and the use of Cardiology devices. Martin is a Fellow of
the American College of Cardiology, a Fellow of the Royal College of
Physicians and Fellow of the European College of Cardiology. Martin
has founded medical device companies and has experience as a
managing director raising capital and obtaining regulatory approvals
as well as establishing marketing and distribution functions.

Michael Stevens
Senior Independent 
Non-executive Director
Michael (60) joined the Board in
December 2005 and is Chairman
of the Nominations Committee.
Until his retirement in July 2005,
Michael was Executive Vice
President, Staff Executive at 
GE Healthcare. This involved
membership of the company’s
Executive Leadership Team. 
For over four years until 
GE Healthcare acquired

Amersham plc in April 2004, Michael was Corporate Development
Director of Amersham, having responsibility for strategic planning 
co-ordination, corporate level M&A activity and research and
development portfolio analysis. Prior to joining Amersham he held
senior positions at major pharmaceutical companies such as Gedeon
Richter in Hungary, Wellcome plc and the Syntex Corporation 
in California. Michael is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants and has also studied at INSEAD 
business school in France.

Peter Nigel Gray
Independent Non-executive
Director
Nigel (67) was appointed to the
Board in December 2005. From
1995 until his retirement in 1999,
Nigel was President of the Pfizer
Medical Technology Group and
Vice President and Corporate
Officer of Pfizer Inc., providing
global leadership for the Pfizer
portfolio of medical device
companies including Howmedica,
Schneider, AMS, Valleylab,

Strato/Infusaid, and BSL. During this period the sales turnover
increased by 50% to $1.5 billion. Nigel was a Non-executive Director
of Lombard Medical Plc from 2001 until it was taken private in 2003.
Prior to joining Pfizer in 1993, Nigel was with Howmedica (the
orthopaedic implant division of Pfizer Inc) for 18 years, serving 
in a number of senior sales and marketing management positions,
and ultimately as Director of International Marketing and President 
of Howmedica International. He also spent nine years in sales and
marketing positions at Gillette Surgical. Nigel is also Non-executive
Chairman of Apatech Ltd, a developer and manufacturer of
proprietary bone graft products for surgical use.
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Peter Phillips
Managing Director,
Cardiovascular Devices Division
Peter took Anson Medical Limited
from concept to commercial reality
in 1997 and, with Professor Brian
Hopkinson, designed the Aorfix™
stent graft. Before the
commercialisation of Anson
Medical Limited, Peter ensured
that the design concepts were
protected by patents, providing
the basis for the Cardiovascular
Devices Division’s current

portfolio. Prior to Anson Medical Limited, Peter was New Products
Director at Surgicraft, an orthopaedics company. Prior to that he was
a consultant to the diagnostics industry for six years, while working
for Scientific Generics and Cambridge Consultants. He has an MSc 
in medical physics and a PhD in vascular imaging from Guy’s
Hospital, London.

Kadem Al-Lamee
Managing Director, 
Polymer Coatings Division
Kadem was co-founder of
PolyBioMed Limited in 1996,
serving as Technical Director
before becoming Managing
Director in 2001. He has been
integral to the development of
the business throughout its
history, including strategic
development, fund raising,
technical development and the
establishment of its intellectual

property portfolio. Prior to establishing PolyBioMed, Kadem was
Principal Scientist in polymer chemistry for Innovative Technologies
plc, managing development programmes with Amorphous Hydrogels,
as wound dressings and coated urinary catheters. He has an MSc
and PhD in Polymer Chemistry and extensive post-doctoral
experience at the University of Liverpool and the University of Basrah
involving a number of collaborations with major medical devices
and biotechnology companies.

Rhod Jones
Company Secretary
Rhod (59) is a chartered
accountant and was appointed
Company Secretary and Group
Financial Controller in 2001. 
Prior to this appointment he held
a similar position for nine years 
in a growing leisure group during
which the group was floated 
on the AIM market before 
being acquired. Overall he has
25 years’ company secretarial
and senior financial management

experience in a number of quoted companies, in the property, leisure,
and metal and plastic finishing industries. Prior to this he was in the
profession rising through audit to investigations manager before
entering commerce.



The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements
of the Company and Group for the year ended 31 December 2005.

Principal Activities
The Company acts as holding company for the Group which is engaged
in the development of medical devices and polymer coatings.

Results and Dividends
The results for the year are set out in the profit and loss account and
commented on in the Finance Director’s Report on pages 10 and 11.
Key events during the year are referred to in the Chairman’s Statement
(pages 2 and 3) and the Chief Executive’s Review of Operations
(pages 4 to 8).

The preference share dividends payable for the period to 30 October
2005 was settled by a scrip issue of preference shares.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend to
holders of ordinary shares (2004: £nil). 

Research and Development
The Group is committed to research and development in order to
develop its business and bring its products to market. Costs of
£3,157,000 during the year relate specifically to this aspect of the
Group’s activities and have been expensed in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy.

Political and Charitable Donations
The Group made no political or charitable donations during the
period. (2004: £nil).

Directors
Details of the Directors are set out on pages 12 and 13.

Mr Stevens and Mr Gray, having been appointed prior to the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting, will retire and being eligible offer
themselves for re-election.

Mr Taylor and Mr Johnston will retire by rotation at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting and being eligible offer themselves for 
re-election.

Directors’ Interests in Shares
The interest of the Directors in the ordinary shares of the Company
are shown in the Remuneration Report on page 19.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts
The interest of the Directors in contracts are shown in note 25 to the
financial statements.

Corporate and Social Responsibility
Employees
The Group aims to provide remuneration packages that are
competitive and designed to attract, retain and motivate employees.

The Group policy is to provide equal recruitment and other opportunities
for all employees, regardless of sex, religion, race or disability.

It is the practice to encourage lines of communication between
employees and more senior members of staff.

Environment
The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislation
and minimising the impact of its activities on the environment. The
Group considers that its activities have low environmental impact.

Financial Risk Management
Details of the Group’s policies are included in note 18 to the financial
statements.

Health and Safety
The Group has established a Health and Safety Committee to review
health and safety standards within the Group on an ongoing basis.
Policies and procedures are documented.

Payment Policy
It is the Group’s policy to agree terms with its suppliers, terms of
settlement which are appropriate for the markets in which they
operate and to abide by such terms where suppliers have also 
met their obligations. The Company had 67 days’ (2004: 88 days’)
purchases outstanding at 31 December 2005, based on amounts
invoiced by suppliers during the year.

Interests in Voting Shares
At 21 March 2006 the Company had been notified of the following
interests of 3% or more in the Company’s ordinary shares:

Number of % of issued
Name of holder shares shares

Camden Partners Strategic Funds 12,753,499 26.0
Boston Scientific International BV 4,431,004 9.0
Aviva plc 1,960,000 4.0

Share Price
The mid-market share price as derived from the London Stock
Exchange Daily Official List was 159 pence on 31 December 2005.
The closing mid-market share price ranged from 159 pence to 
163 pence during the period from the Company’s flotation on 
13 December 2005 to 31 December 2005. The average closing 
mid-market share price for this period was 159.75 pence.

Annual General Meeting
The AGM of the Company will be held at Financial Dynamics, Holborn
Gate, 26 Southampton Buildings, London WC2A 1PB at 11.00 am on
9 May 2006.

Other business to be put to the AGM will comprise:

n renewal of the authority to the Directors to allot equity securities,
included in the section 80 authority has been added £40,000 in
respect of share options which may be granted prior to the 2007
Annual General Meeting;

n renewal of the authority to the Directors to allot equity securities for
cash; and 

n authority for the reduction of the capital of the Company by
cancelling and extinguishing all of the deferred shares of 
0.862 pence each.

Full details of the business to be transacted at the AGM can be found
on the separate Notice of Meeting accompanying this report.

Auditors
A resolution to reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditors to
the Company will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board

Rhod Jones
Company Secretary
21 March 2006

Directors’ Report
for the year ended 31 December 2005
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Corporate Governance

Introduction
The Board recognises the value of high standards of Corporate
Governance and, as such, intends to comply with the disclosure
requirements of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance
(published July 2003) although this is not mandatory for companies
listed on the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock
Exchange (AIM). In assessing the appropriate standards of Corporate
Governance, the Board takes into account the Company’s size, stage
of development and resources.

Statement of Compliance
The Company complied with the provisions set out in Section I of the
Combined Code from 13 December 2005, being the date on which
the Company listed on AIM, to 31 December 2005 with the exception
of the following.

The Granting of Options to Non-executive Directors.
The Combined Code discourages the granting of share options
to Non-executive Directors but acknowledges that there may be
circumstances where such grants are appropriate. In such cases the
Combined Code recommends that any shares acquired by exercise of
options should be held until at least one year after the Non-executive
Director leaves the Board. The Board is of the view that the
recruitment and retention of high-calibre Non-executive Directors with
relevant experience can add significant value to a company at LMT’s
stage of development, and that the issue of share options to Non-
executive Directors, without restrictions on the sale of shares following
exercise, enables this process. 

Senior Independent Non-executive Director
The Board appointed Michael Stevens as Senior Independent 
Non-executive Director on 21 March 2006.

Availability of the Non-executive Directors at the AGM of 
31 December 2005
Due to the unusual timing of the 2005 AGM, which was dictated by
the date of the IPO and the need to hold an AGM prior to the year end,
the Chairmen of the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees
were not available to attend. They will be available to attend the next
AGM on 9 May 2006.

Board of Directors
As at 31 December 2005, the Board comprised four Non-executive
Directors and three Executive Directors, as set out on pages 12 and
13 of this report.

The roles of Executive Chairman and CEO are separated being held
by Alistair Taylor and Brian Howlett respectively. Michael Stevens is
the Senior Independent Non-executive Director.

The Board has determined that Martin Rothman, Michael Stevens and
Nigel Gray are independent Non-executive Directors. Richard Johnston
is considered not to be independent as he is a partner of Camden
Partners Holdings LLC that retains a 26% shareholding in LMT. 

The holding of share options is deemed by the Combined Code to 
be something that may be relevant to determining whether or not a
Non-executive Director is independent. After careful consideration, 
the Board has determined that the holding of share options by its
Non-executive Directors has no impact on their independence in
character and judgement. The share options held by the Non-
executive Directors are all subject to share price performance criteria
except for some that are held by Martin Rothman that are subject to
no performance criteria. Details of all Directors’ share options are
shown in the Remuneration Report on pages 18 to 21.

The existence of a material business relationship with the Company 
is another factor relevant to the determination of a Non-executive
Director’s independence. Professor Martin Rothman is a consultant
cardiologist and Cardiac Research and Development Director at

St Bartholomew’s and the London NHS Trust. To benefit from 
his considerable expertise in the field of cardiology the Company
engages him as a medical adviser under a consultancy agreement
dated 28 November 2005. The agreement is for a fixed term of 24
months at an annual fee of £30,000. The Board considers that this
arrangement does not in any way affect Professor Rothman’s
independent judgement.

There are matters which are reserved for decision by the full 
Board. These include: matters relating to strategy and management;
Group structure and capital; financial reporting and controls; internal
controls; major contracts; external communications; Board membership
and other senior appointments; remuneration; delegation of authority;
Corporate Governance matters; policies; and various other items such
as political donations, litigation and changes to Group pension schemes.

Full Board meetings are held bi-monthly. All members of the Board
are supplied in advance with appropriate information covering matters
which are to be considered. There were no such meetings in the
period from admission to AIM (13 December 2005) and the year end.

Board Committees
The Board has established Audit, Nomination and Remuneration
Committees, whose make-up complies with the requirements of
the Combined Code. The terms of reference of each Committee
are available on request from the Company Secretary. In accordance
with the Smith Guidance on Board Committees, no one other than
the Committee Chairman and Committee members receive automatic
invitations to the meetings. None of the Committees met in the short
period between the Company’s admission to AIM on 13 December
2005 and the year end (31 December 2005).

Remuneration Committee
The Combined Code requires that, in the case of a smaller company,
a Remuneration Committee consists of at least two independent
Non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee consists of
Martin Rothman (Chair) and Nigel Gray who are both independent
Non-executive Directors, plus Richard Johnston, a Non-executive
Director who is not considered to be independent. The Remuneration
Committee determines the terms and conditions of service of
Directors, including the remuneration and grant of options to Directors
and employees. It also reviews the performance of the Directors and
key employees of the Company.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee has responsibility for considering the
size, structure and composition of the Board, retirements and
appointments of additional and replacement Directors, and making
appropriate recommendations to the Board. The Combined Code
recommends that a majority of members of the Nomination
Committee are independent Non-executive Directors. The Company
complies with this recommendation. Michael Stevens chairs the
Nomination Committee and its other members are Richard Johnston
and Nigel Gray.

Audit Committee
The Combined Code requires that, in the case of a smaller company,
an Audit Committee consists of at least two independent Non-
executive Directors. The Audit Committee consists of Martin Rothman
and Michael Stevens who are both independent Non-executive
Directors, plus Richard Johnston (Chair), a Non-executive Director
who is not considered to be independent. Michael Stevens is a 
Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants and 
is considered by the Board to have the requisite relevant financial
experience recommended by the Combined Code. The Audit
Committee has a primary responsibility for: monitoring the quality of
the Company’s operating procedures, controls and systems; ensuring
that the financial performance of the Group is properly measured and
reported on; and for reviewing reports from the Group’s auditors
relating to the Group’s accounting and internal controls. 
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The Audit Committee also makes recommendations to the Board
with regard to the appointment, independence, fees and terms of
engagement of the Company’s auditors.

The Audit Committee has met twice since the year end. Firstly to
review the independence of the auditors, their proposed audit plan
and terms of engagement, and secondly to review the Group’s
financial statements, Corporate Governance statements and reports
from the external auditors relating to findings from the audit of the
2005 accounts. Further meetings in 2006 are planned primarily to
consider the findings of a review of the Company’s system of internal
financial controls, to review the financial statements in the Interim
Report and to plan for the 2006 audit. The ultimate responsibility for
reviewing and approving the financial statements in the Interim and
Annual Reports remains with the Board.

Board Performance Evaluation
Directors are subject to election by shareholders at the first
opportunity after their appointment, and to re-election thereafter at
intervals of no more than three years. There was no formal evaluation
of the Board and its Committees in the short period between the
Company’s AIM admission and the year end. A process for the
evaluation of the Board, its committees and individual Directors
including the Chairman will be implemented during 2006.

Accountability
The Board is responsible for the production of an Annual Report that
presents a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s
financial position and prospects. The Audit Committee plays a key
role in administering this responsibility.

Internal Controls
The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of internal
controls (including financial control) and for reviewing its effectiveness.
Such a system can only provide reasonable assurance and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, as it is
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives. The concept of reasonable assurance recognises
the cost of a control procedure should not exceed the expected
benefits.

There is an ongoing process to identify, evaluate and manage the
significant risks faced by the Group. However, there has been no
formal review by the Board of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control system in the three months since the Company’s listing on
AIM. A review by the Audit Committee of the Group’s internal financial
controls is planned for later in the year and the results of this will be
reported to the Board as part of a wider assessment of the risks
faced by the Group and its internal control systems.

The Board has considered it inappropriate to establish an internal
audit function, given the size of the Group.

Key internal controls employed by the Group include:

n the establishment of an organisation structure with delegated
responsibilities and lines of accountability;

n the appointment of employees with the appropriate skills and
experience;

n documented quality procedures, which are periodically reviewed,
to ensure the maintenance of regulatory compliance;

n the monitoring of compliance with Good Manufacturing Practice
(GMP), Good Clinical Practice (GCP) and Good Laboratory Practice
(GLP) by the internal quality group and/or external consultants;

n the monitoring of health and safety policies and procedures 
by a Health and Safety Committee;

n a regular review of the Group’s insurance policies to ensure that
they are appropriate to the Group’s size, activities and exposures;

n the definition of authorisation limits, including matters reserved for
the Board;

n appropriate measures to ensure the security of physical property
and computer information;

n the preparation of detailed operational budgets and periodic
forecasts; and

n the holding of monthly management meetings attended by the
Executive Directors and senior management at which reports are
presented and discussed with regard to:

– the Company’s financial performance against budget or latest
estimate; and

– progress by each department on key business objectives.

Relations with Investors and the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”)
Communications with shareholders are given a high priority. The
Chairman’s Statement and Chief Executive’s Report on pages 2 to 8
include a detailed review of the business and future developments. 
A regular dialogue is planned with institutional shareholders including
presentations after the announcement of preliminary results at the
year end and half year. The Group’s new website will be regularly
updated with information on the Group’s activities.

Michael Stevens has been appointed Senior Independent Non-
executive Director and he may be contacted by shareholders via 
the Company website.

The AGM gives all shareholders the opportunity to communicate
directly with the Board. The Chairmen of the Audit, Nomination and
Remuneration Committees will be available at the AGM on 9 May
2006 to answer questions. Details of resolutions to be proposed at
the AGM can be found in the Circular, which accompanies this report.

Review of Corporate Governance Disclosures
The provisions of the Combined Code set out above have only been
addressed in late 2005 and early 2006. We therefore did not request
that these be reviewed by our auditors for 2005 and their report
contains no specific reporting responsibilities in respect of corporate
governance.



Remuneration Report

Introduction
As a company whose shares are traded on the London Stock Exchange’s AIM market, the Company is not required to comply with the
disclosure requirements of Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 or Schedule 7A of the Companies Act 1985.

The following disclosures are provided on a voluntary basis as a matter of best practice.

Remuneration Committee
Prior to the Company’s listing on AIM on 13 December 2005 the Remuneration Committee consisted of two Non-executive Directors, Martin
Rothman (Chair) and Richard Johnston who is not considered to be independent. Following the IPO Nigel Gray, an independent Non-executive
Director was appointed to the Committee so that its composition met the Combined Code requirement for smaller companies to have two
independent Non-executive Directors on the Committee. 

The Committee met several times on an ad hoc basis prior to the IPO. There was no Remuneration Committee meeting in the short period
between the IPO and year end. 

The remuneration of each Executive Director, including bonuses and share option grants, is determined by the Committee, as are the terms of
their service agreements. From time to time, if it is considered appropriate, the Committee will commission reports from expert remuneration
consultants. The Committee does not determine the fees paid to Non-executive Directors. These are determined by the Board on the
recommendation of the Chairman and Chief Executive. 

In determining the Directors’ remuneration for the year, the Committee reviewed the executive compensation packages in companies 
of a similar size, complexity and stage of development as Lombard Medical Technologies PLC.

Policy on Remuneration of Executive Directors
It is the Company’s policy to provide remuneration packages that are competitive with those of other companies of a similar size, complexity
and stage of development. Furthermore, it is the objective of the Board, advised by the Remuneration Committee, to provide remuneration
packages that will attract, retain and motivate Executive Directors of the highest calibre.

The Group recognises the benefits of performance-related remuneration and both the exercise of share options and the award of annual bonuses
are linked to various performance measures. These measures are balanced between internal measures and share price performance to achieve
maximum alignment between executive and shareholder objectives.

The Company’s policy has been to weight the remuneration package more towards share options and less towards cash-based incentives than
is the case in many comparable companies in order to conserve cash for investment in development projects and to better align executive and
shareholder interests.

Components of the Remuneration Package
The principal components of Executive Directors’ remuneration packages are basic salary, a performance-related bonus, medium- and long-term
incentives in the form of share options, pension contributions and other benefits. The policy in relation to each of these components, and key
terms of the various incentive and benefit programmes are explained further below.

Basic Salary
Base salaries are reviewed annually, taking into account recommendations on individual performance and salary levels in comparable
companies. In determining appropriate salary levels for those Executive Directors appointed during the year the Committee took into account
the skills and experience of the Director, advice from its search consultant (Euromedica Limited) as well as salaries in comparable companies.

Performance-Related Bonus
Executive Directors are eligible for an annual discretionary cash bonus. These bonuses are limited to a percentage of base salary for each
Director; however the Remuneration Committee maintain the right to make one-off bonus awards for exceptional performance. In 2005 the
Committee made one such award of £100,000 (67% of base salary) to the Executive Chairman in recognition of his extra responsibilities 
during the illness of the previous CEO and his essential contribution to the success of the Company’s IPO.

Share Options
Executive options are now only granted under the rules of the “2005 Plan”. The 2005 Plan is administered and the grant of options supervised 
by the Remuneration Committee. No new options will be granted under the “Existing Plan” share option scheme previously operated by 
the Company. Options granted under the Existing Plan are substantially on the same terms as those noted below for the 2005 Plan.

The exercise of options is normally conditional on the achievement of a specified performance target determined by the Remuneration
Committee when the options are granted. The exercise price per ordinary share will not be less than the middle market quotation averaged
over the three dealing days immediately preceding the date of grant. 

Options may normally only be granted within 42 days of the announcement by the Company of its interim or final results each year. Options 
may be granted outside these periods if the Remuneration Committee considers that there are sufficiently exceptional circumstances to justify the
grant of options at that time. No payment is required for the grant of an option.

An individual Director’s maximum level of participation under the Plan will be set by the Board under advice from the Remuneration Committee.

The benefits under the 2005 Plan are not pensionable.
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An option will lapse if the participant ceases to be employed within the Group otherwise than due to death and to the extent otherwise
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion. If a participant dies, the option may be exercised within 12 months after his/her death.

In order to secure the recruitment and retention of high-calibre Non-executive Directors with the appropriate experience, it is the Company’s
policy to grant Non-executive Directors share options. The share options held by the Non-executive Directors are all subject to share price
performance criteria except for some that are held by Martin Rothman that are subject to no performance criteria in view of his prior
contribution to the Group.

Full details of Directors’ interests in ordinary shares of the Company, together with options granted in the financial year ended 31 December
2005, are set out below in this report.

Pension Arrangements
All employees, including Executive Directors are invited to participate in a Group Personal Pension Plan (“GPPP”), which is money-purchase in
nature. Alternatively, the Company may make contributions to personal pension schemes held by employees or Executive Directors equal to
those that would have been made to the GPPP. The only pensionable element of remuneration is basic salary. The Company contributes 10%
of basic salary to the pension arrangements of Executive Directors.

Other Benefits
Benefits in kind for Executive Directors include the provision of a car allowance, life assurance, permanent health insurance and private medical
insurance.

Directors’ Service Contracts
The Company’s policy is for Executive Directors to have contracts of employment with an indefinite term. This applies to the contracts 
of Mr Taylor, Mr Howlett and Mr Hall, which were effective from 16 November 2005, 15 November 2005 and 7 November 2005 respectively.
The contracts are terminable by either party giving not less than 12 months notice. The Executive Directors are subject to certain restrictive
covenants for a period of 12 months following termination of their employment. All Executive Directors are subject to re-election at an AGM 
at intervals of no more than three years.

Non-Executive Directors’ Appointment and Fees
Non-executive Directors do not have a contract of service. The Non-executive Directors are engaged on letters of appointment, dated 
7 December 2005, that set out their duties and responsibilities. Each Non-executive Director is appointed for an initial period of 12 months 
that is then terminable by either party on three months’ written notice to expire at any time on or after the initial period of 12 months. 

Non-executive Directors’ fees are paid in line with market practice and are reviewed annually. All Non-executive Directors are currently paid 
an annual fee of £35,000.

Directors’ Interests
The Directors who held office at 31 December 2005 and their interests in the share capital of the Company at 31 December 2004 and 
31 December 2005 were as follows:

Restated 1

31 December 31 December
2005 2004

Ordinary Ordinary 
shares of shares of 31 December 2004

2 pence each 2 pence each and date of resignation

A H Taylor 1,224,257 1,175,604 7,206,622 ordinary shares of 0.138 pence each
9,831,112 A preference shares

B Howlett – – –
T R Hall 5,000 – –
P N Gray 50,039 50,039 –
R M Johnston2 – – –
M T Rothman 19,009 18,484 49,012 ordinary shares of 0.138 pence each

218,877 A preference shares
M A Stevens 12,578 12,578 –
A B B Canning4 (resigned 10 November 2005) – – 481,166 ordinary shares of 0.138 pence each

24,577,782 A preference shares
J W E Kerslake (resigned 4 November 2005) – – 57,142 ordinary shares of 0.138 pence each

2,457,777 A preference shares
S J Terry (resigned 19 November 2005) – – 12,992,547 A preference shares

1 Restated – the position at 31 December 2004 has been adjusted to reflect the subdivision, consolidation and conversion of the preference shares and 
0.138 pence ordinary shares to 2 pence ordinary shares on 13 December 2005 (see note 19 to the financial statements).

2 Mr Johnston has a share in the Camden Partners’ funds which themselves hold 12,753,499 (2004: 10,793,734 restated) 2 pence ordinary shares in the Company.
3 Mr R Berkeley who was appointed and resigned during the year had no interest in the share capital of the Company.
4 The interests of A B B Canning were shares registered in the names of:

Borodino Limited (in liquidation) 481,166 ordinary shares of 0.138 pence each
Kingsfold Limited 24,577,782 A preference shares

Mr Canning was a potential beneficiary of a family trust, the trustees of which owned Borodino LImited: Borodino Limited had a 50% interest in Kingsfold Limited.



Remuneration Report continued

20 Lombard Medical Technologies PLC Annual Report 2005

On 19 January 2006 Mr Howlett purchased 6,250 ordinary shares. There has been no other change in Directors’ interests between 
31 December 2005 and the date of this report.

The Directors who resigned during the year had the following options over ordinary 2 pence shares at a price of 14.5 pence:
At

At date of 31 December
resignation 2004

A B B Canning 108,958 108,958
J W E Kerslake 435,833 653,750
S J Terry 544,791 1,089,584

Directors’ Remuneration and Pension Entitlements (Audited)
The remuneration of individual Directors who served during the year was as follows:

Basic Compensation Total Total
salary Benefits for loss emoluments emoluments

and fees Bonuses in kind Other Pensions of office 2005 2004
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Executive Directors:
A H Taylor 161 100 2 – 15 – 278 185
B Howlett1 20 – – – 2 – 22 –
T R Hall2 20 – – – 2 – 22 –
S J Terry3 133 – 3 – 13 170 319 179
J W E Kerslake4 111 – 24 – 11 287 433 146

Non-executive Directors:
P N Gray5 3 – – – – – 3 –
R M Johnston 16 – – – – – 16 15
M T Rothman6 35 – – 123 – – 158 35
M A Stevens7 3 – – – – – 3 –
R Berkeley8 14 – – – – – 14 –
A B B Canning9 12 – – 22 – – 34 15

528 100 29 145 43 457 1,302 575

1 Appointed 11 November 2005.
2 Appointed 7 November 2005.
3 Resigned 19 October 2005.
4 Resigned 4 November 2005.
5 Appointed 13 December 2005.
6 Other payments to M T Rothman are in respect to consultancy services relating to his role as medical advisor to the Company and his time spent 

supporting the IPO process.
7 Appointed 13 December 2005.
8 Appointed 19 January 2005 and resigned 1 December 2005.
9 Resigned 10 November 2005.
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The following Directors who served during the year had options outstanding over ordinary shares of 2 pence each at 31 December 2005:

Options Options Options
held at granted held at Date from

1 January (lapsed) 31 December Exercise which first Expiry
Director Plan 20051 during year 2005 price (pence) exercisable2 date Note

A H Taylor Anson 41,019 41,019 252.0 20 Feb 2002 19 Feb 2011 3
2004 Plan 871,667 (871,667) 0 14.5
2004 Plan 435,833 435,833 14.5 9 Nov 2005 8 Nov 2015 3
2004 Plan 108,958 108,958 14.5 30 Jun 2006 8 Nov 2015 4
2004 Plan 108,958 108,958 14.5 31 Dec 2007 8 Nov 2015 4
2004 Plan 217,916 217,916 14.5 30 Jun 2008 8 Nov 2015 4
2004 Plan 217,916 217,916 14.5 31 Dec 2009 8 Nov 2015 4
2005 Plan 262,775 262,775 159.0 30 Jun 2006 12 Dec 2015 4
2005 Plan 262,775 262,775 159.0 31 Dec 2006 12 Dec 2015 4
2005 Plan 262,775 262,775 159.0 30 Jun 2009 12 Dec 2015 4
2005 Plan 262,775 262,775 159.0 11 Feb 2007 12 Dec 2015 5
2005 Plan 262,775 262,775 159.0 11 Feb 2008 12 Dec 2015 5
2005 Plan 262,775 262,775 159.0 11 Feb 2009 12 Dec 2015 5

912,686 1,794,564 2,707,250

B Howlett 2005 Plan 157,665 157,665 159.0 31 Dec 2006 12 Dec 2015 4
2005 Plan 315,330 315,330 159.0 31 Dec 2008 12 Dec 2015 4
2005 Plan 157,665 157,665 159.0 31 Mar 2009 12 Dec 2015 4
2005 Plan 157,665 157,665 159.0 31 Dec 2010 12 Dec 2015 4
2005 Plan 258,571 258,571 159.0 11 Feb 2007 12 Dec 2015 5
2005 Plan 264,877 264,877 159.0 11 Feb 2008 12 Dec 2015 5
2005 Plan 264,877 264,877 159.0 11 Feb 2009 12 Dec 2015 5

1,576,650 1,576,650

T Hall 2005 Plan 135,141 135,141 159.0 31 Dec 2006 12 Dec 2015 4
2005 Plan 135,141 135,141 159.0 31 Dec 2007 12 Dec 2015 4
2005 Plan 135,141 135,141 159.0 31 Dec 2008 12 Dec 2015 4
2005 Plan 135,141 135,141 159.0 31 Dec 2009 12 Dec 2015 4
2005 Plan 135,142 135,142 159.0 11 Feb 2007 12 Dec 2015 5
2005 Plan 135,142 135,142 159.0 11 Feb 2008 12 Dec 2015 5
2005 Plan 135,142 135,142 159.0 11 Feb 2009 12 Dec 2015 5

945,990 945,990

N Gray 2005 Plan 21,022 21,022 159.0 11 Feb 2007 12 Dec 2015 5
2005 Plan 21,022 21,022 159.0 11 Feb 2008 12 Dec 2015 5
2005 Plan 21,022 21,022 159.0 11 Feb 2009 12 Dec 2015 5

63,066 63,066

R Johnston 2004 Plan 108,958 (108,958) 0 14.5
2004 Plan 108,987 108,987 14.5 9 Nov 2005 8 Nov 2015 3

108,958 29 108,987

M Rothman 2004 Plan 108,958 (108,958) 0 14.5
2004 Plan 544,792 544,792 14.5 9 Nov 2005 8 Nov 2015 3
2005 Plan 210,220 210,220 159.0 11 Feb 2007 12 Dec 2015 5
2005 Plan 210,220 210,220 159.0 11 Feb 2008 12 Dec 2015 5
2005 Plan 210,220 210,220 159.0 11 Feb 2009 12 Dec 2015 5

108,958 1,066,494 1,175,452

M Stevens 2005 Plan 21,022 21,022 159.0 11 Feb 2007 12 Dec 2015 5
2005 Plan 21,022 21,022 159.0 11 Feb 2008 12 Dec 2015 5
2005 Plan 21,022 21,022 159.0 11 Feb 2009 12 Dec 2015 5

63,066 63,066

Notes
1 The opening position has been adjusted to reflect the change in nominal value of ordinary shares during the year.
2 In certain instances the date is subject to the achievement of performance targets or minimum increases in share price growth (note 4 and 5).
3 Vested.
4 Subject to the achievement of individual performance targets.
5 Subject to share price growth.



Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements
for each financial year, which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group and the profit or loss of the
Group for that year.

In preparing those financial statements the Directors are required to:

n select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

n make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

n state whether applicable accounting standards have been
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements; and

n prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis,
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue
in business.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Company and the Group and to enable them to ensure
that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985.
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company
and the Group and hence for taking responsible steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud or other irregularities.

Tim Hall
Finance Director
21 March 2006
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
to the Shareholders of Lombard Medical Technologies PLC

We have audited the Group and parent company financial statements
(the ‘‘financial statements’’) of Lombard Medical Technologies PLC for
the year ended 31 December 2005 which comprise the Consolidated
Profit and Loss Account, the Consolidated and Company Balance
Sheets, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and the related notes.
These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting
policies set out therein.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors and Auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement of Directors’
Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, including the
opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members
as a body in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act
1985 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion,
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements
give a true and fair view and are properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you if, in our opinion, the
Directors’ Report is not consistent with the financial statements, if the
Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not
received all the information and explanations we require for our audit,
or if information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration
and other transactions is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report, and
consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements.
This other information comprises only the Directors’ Report, the
Remuneration Report, the Chairman’s Statement, the Chief
Executive’s Review of Operations, the Finance Director’s Report and
the Corporate Governance Statement. We consider the implications
for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or
material inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our
responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of Audit Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant 
to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements
made by the Directors in the preparation of the financial statements,
and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s
and Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately
disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in order
to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance
that the financial statements are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our
opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation 
of information in the financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements:

n give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of the
Group’s and the parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 2005
and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended;
and

n have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 1985.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
East Midlands
21 March 2006



Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
for the year ended 31 December 2005

2005 2004
Note £’000 £’000

Turnover 2 169 40
Cost of sales (87) (16)

Gross profit 82 24

Development and administrative expenses (including exceptional items) (9,866) (5,675)

Operating loss before goodwill amortisation and exceptional items (6,749) (4,077)
Exceptional items 3 (1,754) (887)
Amortisation of goodwill (1,281) (687)

Operating loss 4 (9,784) (5,651)
Impairment of investments 14 – (868)
Net interest payable and similar charges 7 (1,949) (476)

Loss on ordinary activities (11,733) (6,995)
Taxation on loss on ordinary activities 8 – 209

Loss after taxation (11,733) (6,786)
Non-equity dividends and appropriations 9 – (1,178)

Loss for the financial year 20 (11,733) (7,964)

Basic and diluted loss per share (pence) 11 (148.4) (140.8)

All activity relates to continuing operations.

The Group has no recognised gains and losses other than the loss above and therefore no separate statement of total recognised gains and
losses has been presented.

There is no difference between the loss on ordinary activities before taxation and the loss for the financial year stated above, and their historical
cost equivalents.

Following the adoption of FRS 25 “Financial instruments: disclosures and presentation” from 1 January 2005 preference share appropriations
have been represented as part of interest payable. The comparative figures have not been restated as permitted by FRS 25.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2005

2005 2004
Note £’000 £’000

Fixed assets
Intangible assets 12 2,215 2,659
Tangible assets 13 301 343
Investments 14 2,825 2,595

5,341 5,597

Current assets
Stocks 15 318 147
Debtors 16 475 417
Cash at bank and in hand 16,342 20

17,135 584
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 17 (2,893) (5,522)

Net current assets/(liabilities) 14,242 (4,938)

Net assets 19,583 659

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 19 4,201 3,270
Share premium account 20 25,420 6,207
Other reserves 20 11,118 –
Profit and loss account 20 (22,976) (10,230)

Shareholders’ funds/(deficit) 17,763 (753)
Equity minority interests 12 1,820 1,412

Capital employed 19,583 659

Analysis of shareholders’ funds/(deficit):
Equity shareholders’ funds/(deficit) 17,763 (11,129)
Non-equity shareholders’ funds – 10,376

24 17,763 (753)

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 21 March 2006 and were signed on its behalf by:

Tim Hall
Director
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Company Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2005

2005 2004
Note £’000 £’000

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 13 4 11
Investments 14 19,825 36,041

19,829 36,052

Current assets
Debtors 16 212 38
Cash at bank and in hand 16,237 20

16,449 58
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 17 (3,683) (28,248)

Net current assets/(liabilities) 12,766 (28,190)

Total assets less current liabilities 32,595 7,862

Net assets 32,595 7,862

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 19 4,201 3,270
Share premium account 20 25,420 6,207
Other reserves 20 11,118 –
Profit and loss account 20 (8,144) (1,615)

Shareholders’ funds 32,595 7,862

Analysis of shareholders’ funds/(deficit):
Equity shareholders’ funds/(deficit) 32,595 (2,514)
Non-equity shareholders’ funds – 10,376

20 32,595 7,862

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 21 March 2006 and were signed on its behalf by:

Tim Hall
Director 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2005

2005 2004
Note £’000 £’000

Net cash outflow from operating activities 21 (7,637) (4,317)

Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received 49 17
Interest paid (452) (265)

Net cash outflow from returns on investments 
and servicing of finance (403) (248)

Taxation received 209 –

Capital expenditure and financial investment
Purchase of investments (231) –
Purchase of intangible fixed assets (423) –
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (94) (188)

Net cash outflow from capital expenditure 
and financial investment (748) (188)

Acquisitions and disposals
Disposal of subsidiary undertakings – (60)

Net cash outflows from acquisitions and disposals – (60)

Net cash outflow before financing (8,579) (4,813)

Financing
Issue of ordinary shares 26,181 –
Issue of preference shares 3,150 4,656
Share issue expenses (2,121) (549)
Loans advanced 1,550 –
Repayment of loans (3,342) –

Net cash inflow from financing 25,418 4,107

Increase/(decrease) in cash in the period 22 16,839 (706)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2005

1 Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, the Companies Act 1985, and in accordance with applicable United
Kingdom Accounting Standards. A summary of the more important Group accounting policies follows.

Change of Accounting Policy
The Group has adopted Financial Reporting Standard 25 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation” as this applies to the accounting
period commencing 1 January 2005. This resulted in the non-equity interests represented by preference shares and related unpaid
appropriations being reclassified to liabilities during the period (until conversion to ordinary shares) and dividends or appropriations classified 
as elements of the interest charge. Although this represents a change in accounting policy, the Group has taken advantage of the exemption
available in FRS 25 from the requirement to restate comparatives. 

Basis of Consolidation
The Consolidated Profit and Loss Account and Balance Sheet include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings.
The results of acquired undertakings are included in the Consolidated Profit and Loss Account from the date control passes. Intra-Group sales
and profits are eliminated on consolidation.

No minority interest is shown in the Group loss where there is no obligation for the minority shareholders to fund the deficit. 

Investments
Investments are held at actual or deemed cost (where acquired as part of a business acquisition) and provision is made for any impairment in
value.

Fixed Assets
The cost of tangible fixed assets is their purchase cost, together with any incidental expenses of acquisition. Depreciation is calculated so as to
write off the cost of tangible fixed assets, less their estimated residual value, on a straight-line basis over their estimated economic lives. The
principal economic lives used for this purpose are:

Plant and equipment three to ten years
Office equipment three to five years

Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the fair value of the consideration given over the fair value of identifiable net assets
acquired. Goodwill arising on acquisitions is carried forward as an asset and amortised over its estimated useful economic life on a straight-line
basis. Intellectual property and licence fees are amortised on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life of the patents on the related
products or processes. The principal economic lives used for this purpose are:

Goodwill four years
Intellectual property and licences ten years

Impairment of Fixed Assets and Goodwill
The carrying values of fixed assets are reviewed for impairment where there is an indication that the assets might be impaired. First-year
impairment reviews are conducted for acquired goodwill and intangible assets. Impairment is determined by reference to the higher of net
realisable value and value in use, which is measured by reference to discounted cash flows. Indicative Directors’ estimate of value has been
used in these financial statements due to the considerable uncertainties attaching to future cash flows. Included within the Directors’ estimate
of value are external factors, including subscriptions by other external investors. Any provision for impairment is charged in the profit and loss
account for the year.

Foreign Currencies
Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries in foreign currencies are translated at the closing rates of exchange for the year. Differences on exchange
arising from the retranslation of the opening net investment in subsidiary companies, and from the translation of the results of those companies
at average rate, are taken to reserves and, where material, are reported in the statement of total recognised gains and losses. All other
exchange differences are taken to the profit and loss account in the period in which they arise.

Operating Leases
Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out basis and includes transport and
handling costs. In the case of manufactured products, cost includes all direct expenditure including production overheads. Where necessary,
provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving and defective stocks. Items purchased for use in research and development are stocked and
expensed when used.

Revenue Recognition
Turnover, which excludes value added tax, represents income from the sale of medical devices and from the licensing of technology. Medical
device income is recognised on the supply of goods to a customer net of any provision where the customer has a right of return. Income
arising from a licence agreement is recognised when receivable under the terms of the contract and when all related obligations have been
fulfilled.
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1 Accounting Policies continued

Research and Development
Expenditure on research and development including clinical trials is charged to the profit and loss account as incurred. Tangible fixed assets
used for research and development are depreciated in accordance with the Group’s policy.

Government Grants
Government grants are recognised in the profit and loss account so as to match them with the expenditure to which they are intended to
contribute.

Pensions
The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme for some of its employees. Contributions payable during the year are charged to
the profit and loss account.

Deferred Taxation
Deferred taxation is provided on an undiscounted basis at the anticipated tax rates on timing differences arising from the inclusion of items of
income and expenditure in taxation computations in periods different from those in which they are included in financial statements. Liabilities are
fully provided and assets are recognised to the extent that it is more likely than not that they will be realised.

Capital Instruments
Capital instruments are included at cost, adjusted for discount accretion or premium amortisation. Interest/appropriations thereon and the
premium or discount, where relevant, is taken to the profit and loss account so as to produce a constant rate of return over the period to the
date of expected redemption. Finance costs associated with the issue of capital instruments are capitalised/taken to the share premium
account and written off to the profit and loss account over the period to the expected date of redemption.

The Group applied the provisions of FRS 4 “Capital Instruments” in the year ended 31 December 2004, which requires the amount of
shareholders’ funds attributable to equity and non-equity interests to be separately disclosed. Dividends for the period on the holding
company’s cumulative redeemable preference shares are appropriated through the profit and loss account. Where the holding company does
not have sufficient distributable reserves in order to pay such preference share dividends, these dividends are credited within the profit and loss
account reserve and disclosed as being due to the preference shareholders.

Share Options
On the issue of share options, a charge is made against profit equivalent to the difference between the fair value of the shares at the date of the
grant of rights to them and the exercise price of the option. The charge is spread over the period until the participant becomes entitled to
exercise the options. A corresponding credit is made to the profit and loss account reserve at the same time. Where the exercise price is
considered to equal or exceed the fair value at grant date no charge arises.

2 Segmental Reporting

Business Analysis
2005 2004
£’000 £’000

Turnover
Cardiovascular devices 169 40
Polymer coatings – –

169 40

Loss before tax
Cardiovascular devices (5,561) (2,945)
Polymer coatings (576) (512)
Central costs (3,647) (2,194)

Operating loss (9,784) (5,651)
Amounts written off investments – (868)
Net finance cost (1,949) (476)

(11,733) (6,995)

Net Assets
Cardiovascular devices 1,823 2,193
Polymer coatings 241 314

2,064 2,507
Central 1,177 1,991
Net cash/(debt) 16,342 (3,839)

19,583 659
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2005

2 Segmental Reporting continued

Central net assets comprise assets, partially offset by liabilities that cannot practically be divided between the segments. These liabilities and
assets are:

2005 2004
£’000 £’000

Investments 2,825 2,595
Tax receivable – 209
Central liabilities (1,648) (813)

1,177 1,991

Analyses by business are based on the Group’s management structure. Turnover between segments is immaterial. All turnover and activity
arises in the United Kingdom. Geographical analysis is based on the country in which the customer is located is as follows:

Turnover by Destination
2005 2004
£’000 £’000

United Kingdom and Europe 160 13
United States of America 9 27

169 40

3 Exceptional Items
2005 2004
£’000 £’000

Corporate finance and associated corporate advisory expenses (470) (887)
Bank facility forebearance and arrangement fees (555) –
Board and other restructuring costs (729) –

(1,754) (887)

On 13 December 2005 the Company was listed on AIM. There was an associated placing of 16,466,359 new ordinary shares at the time of 
the listing. Costs directly related to the fund raising such as those of the Company’s Nominated Adviser and Broker have been set against the
share premium account. However, costs relating to advice given on running a public company, market research and other costs linked to the
IPO but not directly related to the fund raising are included in the profit and loss account as an exceptional item along with bank fees related to
the bank’s continued support during the period up to receipt of the placing proceeds.

In November 2005, Stephen Terry and John Kerslake resigned from the Board. Their compensation for loss of office is included as an
exceptional item along with the termination costs of several sales force personnel.

4 Operating Loss
2005 2004
£’000 £’000

Operating loss is stated after charging:
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 136 235
Amortisation of licences 35 9
Amortisation of goodwill 1,281 687
Research and development expenditure 3,157 1,798
Operating lease rentals
– Motor vehicles 22 52
– Land and buildings 207 158
– Other assets 8 5
Auditors’ remuneration 35 31

Amounts paid to the Company’s Auditors in respect of non-audit fees for work provided to the Company and its subsidiaries, amounted to
£265,000 in respect of transaction-related services, £19,000 for non-statutory audit work and £27,000 in respect of tax services (2004:
£19,000). All of these were charged as operating expenses except for those in respect of transaction-related services of which £132,500 was
set against the share premium account and £132,500 included in exceptional items.
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5 Directors’ Emoluments
2005 2004
£’000 £’000

Fees 228 65
Salary 445 425
Bonuses 100 –
Pension contributions 43 41
Benefits in kind 29 44
Compensation for loss of office 457 –

1,302 575

Fees include £143,000 (2004: £20,000) paid to two Non-executive Directors for consultancy services, principally in relation to the IPO.

Bonuses comprise a one-off bonus paid to the Executive Chairman in relation to the IPO in December 2005.

The remuneration of the Executive Directors is set by the Remuneration Committee. Full details of the Directors’ remuneration and options are
contained in the Remuneration Report on pages 18 to 21.

6 Employee Information

The average monthly number of people (including Executive Directors) employed by the Group and by the Company.

By Activity Company Group
2005 2004 2005 2004

Number Number Number Number

Selling, marketing and distribution – – 12 9
Research and development – – 24 16
Business development and administration 6 2 11 9

6 2 47 34

Staff costs for the above persons were:
2005 2004 2005 2004
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Wages and salaries 945 136 2,067 1,486
Social security costs 84 17 242 162
Other pension costs 79 12 130 100

1,108 165 2,439 1,748

7 Net Interest Payable and Similar Charges
2005 2004
£’000 £’000

Interest receivable
Interest receivable on bank deposits 49 17

Interest payable
Bank interest payable (188) (346)
Camden Partners loan interest (124) –
Lion Capital Partners loan interest (141) (124)
Other interest payable – (9)
Minority share of interest payable intra-Group (56) (14)
Preference shares:

Dividend at 8% on amount paid up (912) –
Appropriations (577) –

(1,998) (493)

Net interest payable and similar charges (1,949) (476)
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2005

8 Taxation on Loss on Ordinary Activities

The credit of £209,000 in 2004 relates to the utilisation of tax losses from research and development expenditure to reclaim payroll taxes paid.

Taxation losses carried forward at the end of the year amounted to approximately £23 million and the unrecognised deferred tax asset at 30%
is approximately £6.9 million. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these losses as the Directors consider it is, as yet,
uncertain whether the losses will be utilised. Tax losses would be utilised in future periods against trading profits or the reclaiming of payroll
taxes (at a lower effective rate).

The current tax credit of £nil is lower than the standard UK corporation rate of 30% applied to the loss for the period. The differences are
explained below:

2005 2004
£’000 £’000

Loss before tax for the period at 30% (3,520) (2,099)
Additional deduction for research and development expenditure (200) (100)
Amounts not deductible for tax purposes including amortisation of goodwill 
and preference share dividends 1,030 759
Losses carried forward 2,690 1,440

– –

9 Non-Equity Dividends and Appropriations
2005 2004
£’000 £’000

Preference shares
Dividend at 8% per annum on paid up amount – (612)
Appropriations – (566)

– (1,178)

Under FRS 25 these charges are presented as an interest expense for the year ended 31 December 2005 and as non-equity dividends payable
for the year ended 31 December 2004.

10  Losses of Holding Company

Of the loss for the financial year, a loss of £5,516,000 is dealt with in the accounts of the Company. The Directors have taken advantage of the
exemption available under Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 and not presented the Company’s profit and loss account.

11  Loss Per Share

The Company applied FRS 22 “Earnings Per Share” for the year ended 31 December 2005 and has prepared comparatives on a consistent
basis.

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares.  

The diluted earnings per ordinary share are identical to those used for the basic earnings per ordinary share as the exercise of share options
and conversion of preference shares would have had the effect of reducing the loss per ordinary share and are therefore not dilutive. 

Reconciliations of the losses and weighted average number of shares used on the calculations are set out below:

2005 2004
£’000 £’000

Loss after taxation (11,733) (6,786)
Less preference dividends and appropriations – (1,178)

Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders (11,733) (7,964)

Weighted average number of shares (‘000) 7,906 5,655

Basic and diluted loss per share (pence) (148.4) (140.8)
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12 Intangible Assets
Intellectual

Goodwill on Property and
Acquisition Licences Total

Group £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost
At 1 January 2005 3,622 62 3,684
Additions 449 423 872

At 31 December 2005 4,071 485 4,556

Amortisation
At 1 January 2005 1,011 14 1,025
Charge for the year 1,281 35 1,316

At 31 December 2005 2,292 49 2,341

Net book value
At 31 December 2005 1,779 436 2,215

At 31 December 2004 2,611 48 2,659

The increase in goodwill on acquisition during the year relates to a revision in the equity minority interest remaining in Lombard Medical Plc
following the transfer of its business and investments in subsidiaries to Lombard Medical Technologies PLC for £25.1 million in 2004, to reflect
the amount payable to the minority on liquidation (note 27). 

13  Tangible Fixed Assets
Plant and

Equipment
Group £’000

Cost
At 1 January 2005 1,035
Additions 94

At 31 December 2005 1,129

Depreciation
At 1 January 2005 692
Charge for the year 136

At 31 December 2005 828

Net book value
At 31 December 2005 301

At 31 December 2004 343

Plant and
Equipment

Company £’000

Cost
At 1 January 2005 13
Additions 5

At 31 December 2005 18

Depreciation
At 1 January 2005 2
Charge for the year 12

At 31 December 2005 14

Net book value
At 31 December 2005 4

At 31 December 2004 11
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2005

14 Investments
Loans to Investments in

Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Total
Company £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost
At 1 January 2005 10,682 25,359 36,041
Eliminated on proposed liquidation of Lombard Medical Plc – (23,549) (23,549)
Advances in year 7,333 – 7,333

At 31 December 2005 18,015 1,810 19,825

Interests in Group undertakings
The following subsidiary undertakings have been included in the Group consolidation. All interests are held directly in the form of ordinary
shares.

Name of undertaking Principal area of activity Country of incorporation
Lombard Medical Plc Dormant Great Britain
Anson Medical Limited Medical implants Great Britain
PolyBioMed Limited Polymer biomaterials Great Britain
LionMedical Limited Investment holding company Great Britain 
Lombard Medical Technologies Inc. Medical implants USA

At the year end the Company held 94% of the shares in Lombard Medical Plc. The above companies operate principally in their country of
incorporation. All interests are held by the Company.   

On 28 February 2006 Lombard Medical Plc was placed in members’ voluntary liquidation; consequently the amount of £1,810,000 shown as
equity minority interests will be distributed in the near future.

Unquoted
Investments

Group £’000

Cost
At 1 January 2005 3,463
Additions 230

At 31 December 2005 3,693

Impairment at 1 January 2005 and 31 December 2005 (868)

Net book value
At 31 December 2005 2,825

At 31 December 2004 2,595

At 31 December 2005 the Group held 8% (2004: 15%) of the ordinary share capital of EndoArt SA, a company incorporated in Switzerland and
10.7% of the ordinary share capital of Vascular Concepts Holdings Limited (investment of £2,563,000), a company incorporated in the Isle of
Man. EndoArt SA recorded a loss of £3,066,000 for the year ended 31 December 2004 and had net liabilities of £298,000 at that date. These
figures have been derived from audited financial statements prepared under International Financial Reporting Standards. It required further
funding in 2005 and subsequently raised new equity which the Group subscribed to at a cost of £230,000 and now holds 8% of the share
capital with a total cost of £1,130,000, impaired to a net £262,000. The audited consolidated financial accounts of Vascular Concepts record 
a profit of £582,000 for the year ended 31 March 2005 and net assets of £3,681,000 at that date. The audit opinion on these financial
statements was qualified in respect of a limitation of scope relating to a US subsidiary. These are both companies engaged in the development
of medical devices. The investments are not readily realisable, being unquoted, and values can only be indicative of prospects given the early
stage of their development and the inherent uncertainties in their further progress towards product or technology sales, on which the future
value depends.
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15 Stocks
2005 2004

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Raw materials and consumables 3 – – –
Finished goods 315 – 147 –

318 – 147 –

16  Debtors
2005 2004

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Amounts falling due within one year:
Share capital not paid up – – 38 38
Trade debtors 32 – 7 –
Other debtors 385 167 133 –
Tax recoverable – – 209 –
Prepayments and accrued income 58 45 30 –

475 212 417 38

17  Creditors: Amounts Falling Due Within One Year
2005 2004

Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Amounts owed to subsidiary – 1,820 – 25,342
Bank overdraft – – 517 456
Bank loan – – 1,400 1,400
LCP loan – – 1,942 –
Trade creditors 1,017 575 843 504
Other taxation and social security 255 148 107 22
Other creditors 44 1 24 –
Accruals and deferred income 1,577 1,139 689 524

2,893 3,683 5,522 28,248

Pension contributions of £51,000 (2004: £147,000) are included for the Group in accruals and deferred income.
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18 Financial Instruments

Treasury Policy
The Group has financed its operations by a mixture of shareholders’ funds, bank and other borrowings and loan notes, as required. The
Group’s objective has been to obtain sufficient funding to meet development activities until full commercialisation of its products and this has
been met through the issue of convertible loan notes and debt when further equity funding has not been available. Following the equity funding
associated with the Company’s listing on AIM in December the Group’s short-term objective in using financial instruments is to maximise the
returns on funds held on deposit and to minimise exchange-rate risk where appropriate.

The Group currently has no derivatives and it is not the Group’s policy to actively trade in derivatives.

Interest Rate Risk 
The Group currently has no outstanding loans and invests its surplus funds in money market and short-term bank deposits. In the past it has
used a variety of fixed-rate loans and floating-rate debt as funding sources. The Group does not have a definitive stance on the balance
between fixed- and floating-rate debt.

At 31 December 2004 the percentage of financial instruments carrying interest at a fixed rate was 65.6%.

Liquidity Risk 
The Group prepares periodic working capital forecasts for the foreseeable future, allowing an assessment of the cash requirements of the
Group, to manage liquidity risk. The Group also ensures that sufficient funds are available on 24 hours’ notice to fund the Group’s immediate
needs.

Currency Risk
The Group is currently exposed to limited currency risk through foreign currency transactions. As the Group’s level of foreign currency
transactions increases the currency risk will be managed by holding foreign currency deposits and seeking to hedge significant transactional
exposures. 

Credit Risk
The Group places its deposits only with established financial institutions with high credit ratings.

Short-term Debtors and Creditors
Short-term debtors and creditors have been excluded from the following disclosures as permitted by FRS 13.

Interest Rate Risk of the Group’s Financial Liabilities
The interest rate risk profile of the Group’s financial liabilities were as follows:

Floating-Rate Fixed-Rate
Financial Financial

Total Liabilities Liabilities
£’000 £’000 £’000

Financial liabilities at 31 December 2004 15,614 3,859 11,755
Financial liabilities at 31 December 2005 – – –

All of the Group’s financial liabilities were denominated in sterling.

The preference shares are included at 31 December 2004 at the actual amounts due to the non-equity shareholders at that date being the
redemption value and accrued dividends. 

All of the Group’s creditors falling due within one year (other than bank and other borrowings) are excluded from the above table. 

Interest Rate Composition of Financial Liabilities
Weighted Fixed-Rate Financial

Average Liabilities – Weighted
Interest Average Period for

Rate which the Rate is Fixed
Sterling % Years

Financial liabilities at 31 December 2004 11.30 4.00
Financial liabilities at 31 December 2005 – –

The preference shares in existence at 31 December 2004 were convertible in accordance with the Articles of Association. These shares carried
a cumulative semi-annual dividend at an annual rate of 8%, rising to 12% in April 2006. The 2004 figures shown above were calculated based
on the assumption that the preference shares were held to final maturity (31 December 2008).
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18 Financial Instruments continued

Interest Rate Risk of Financial Assets
2005 2004

Cash At Bank Cash At Bank
and In Hand Other and In Hand Other

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Floating rate – US Dollar 1,485 – – –
Floating rate – Sterling 14,857 2,825 20 2,595

16,342 2,825 20 2,595

The cash and bank balances earn interest at the prevailing short-term market interest rates.

The other floating-rate financial assets represent the unquoted investments.

Maturity of Financial Liabilities
The Group had no financial liabilities at 31 December 2005. All of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2004 fell due within one year,
including the preference shares as they were convertible on demand.

Borrowing Facilities
The Group has a £2.75 million overdraft facility available through the Bank of Scotland. No monies have been drawn against this facility.

Fair Values of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Primary financial investments held or issued to finance the Group’s operations are as follows:

31 December 2005 31 December 2004
Book Fair Book Fair
Value Value Value Value
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Bank loans and overdraft – – (1,917) (1,917)
Other loans – – (1,942) (1,942)
Preference shares – – (11,755) (11,755)
Cash deposits 16,342 16,342 20 20
Unquoted investments 2,825 2,825 2,595 2,595

19,167 19,167 (12,999) (12,999)

Fair values have been established as follows:

Preference shares At book value as appropriations are payable at an appropriate risk premium 
above that of secured debt.

Bank loans and overdraft, LCP loan At book value as interest is payable on a LIBOR plus basis.
Unquoted investments At book value as investments have been written down to estimated 

recoverable amount.
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19 Called Up Share Capital
2005 2005 2004 2004

Number Nominal Number Nominal
of Value of value

Shares £’000 Shares £’000

Authorised
Ordinary shares of 2 pence each 338,867,439 6,777 – –
Deferred shares of 0.862 pence each 373,857,388 3,223 – –
Ordinary shares of 0.138 pence each – – 600,000,000 828
A preference shares of 1 pence each – – 400,000,000 4,000
B preference shares of 1 pence each – – 117,200,000 1,172

712,724,827 10,000 1,117,200,000 6,000

On 13 December 600,000,000 ordinary shares of 0.138 pence each, 400,000,000 A preference shares of 1 pence each and 117,200,000 B
preference shares of 1 pence each were subdivided, consolidated and converted into 138,867,439 ordinary shares of 2 pence each and
373,857,388 deferred shares of 0.862 pence each. Further the authorised share capital was increased to £10,000,000 by the creation of
200,000,000 ordinary shares of 2 pence each.

Allotted, called up and fully paid
Ordinary shares of 2 pence each 48,893,590 978 – –
Deferred shares of 0.862 pence each 373,857,388 3,223 – –
Ordinary shares of 0.138 pence each – – 45,708,294 64
A preference shares of 1 pence each – – 253,481,388 2,535
B preference shares of 1 pence each – – 62,077,455 621

422,750,978 4,201 361,267,137 3,220

Allotted, called up and part paid
Ordinary shares of 0.138 pence each, 25% paid – – 36,250,007 50

422,750,978 4,201 397,517,144 3,270

New share capital issued during the period was as follows:
Number Nominal Consideration

of Value or Fair Value
Shares £’000 £’000

Preference shares of 1 pence each
At 1 January 2005 315,558,843 3,156 10,167
September 2005 – shares subscribed for cash at 7.5 pence per share 42,000,000 420 3,150
November 2005 – scrip issue to settle dividend entitlement 16,298,545 163 1,222

373,857,388 3,739 14,539
Sub-division into ordinary shares of 0.138 pence each and 
deferred shares of 0.862 pence each (373,857,388) (3,739) (14,539)

At 31 December 2005 – – –

Ordinary shares 
At 1 January 2005 81,958,301 113 76
Sub-division and conversion of preference shares of 1 pence each 373,857,388 516 14,539
December 2005 – share issue 311 – –

Total 0.138 pence ordinary shares prior to conversion 455,816,000 629 14,615

December 2005 – conversion to 2 pence ordinary shares 31,451,304 629 14,615
December 2005 – shares placed at £1.59 per share 16,466,359 329 26,181
December 2005 – issue of shares to Camden Partners LLP 975,927 20 1,552

At 31 December 2005 48,893,590 978 42,348

Deferred shares of 0.862 pence each
At 31 December 2004 – – –
Sub-division and conversion of preference share of 1 pence each 373,857,388 3,223 –

At 31 December 2005 373,857,388 3,223 –
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19 Called Up Share Capital continued

Dividends
The preference shares were entitled to an 8% per annum cumulative dividend (the “coupon”, calculated on the subscription price paid up) 
in cash or stock at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The coupon accrued on a daily basis, commencing on the date of issue and was
payable in two equal instalments on 30 April and 31 October in each year. In each relevant period, the Company has appropriated through the
profit and loss account preference share dividends. For the periods ending 31 December 2004 where the Company has not had sufficient
distributable reserves in order to pay such preference dividends in their entirety the proportion in excess of distributable reserves has been
credited back within the profit and loss account reserve. At 31 December 2004 arrears of preference dividends amounted to £447,000.

Outstanding preference share dividends due in respect to the period up to the conversion of the preference shares into ordinary shares on 
13 December 2005 of £1,222,391 were satisfied by reinvestment into an issue of 16,298,545 preference shares in November 2005.

Warrants
The Company entered into a warrant instrument on 7 December 2005 pursuant to which, in lieu of fees of £158,000 related to the placing of
preference shares, the Company has created warrants in favour of Nomura Code Securities to subscribe for 144,900 ordinary shares at an
exercise price of 14.49 pence per ordinary share exercisable within seven years of the Company’s admission to AIM. The cost has been treated
as a preference share issue cost and credited to other reserves.

Options
The Company’s Directors, officers, employees and two former Directors hold options under the Lombard Medical Technologies PLC Share
Option Plan, known as the “Existing Plan”, the Lombard Medical Technologies PLC Share Option Plan (2005), known as the “2005 Plan” and
under the Anson Unapproved Share Option Plan 2000 “Anson Plan”, to subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company as shown below. The
Directors’ interests in these options are detailed in the Remuneration Report.

Anson Plan Existing Plan 2005 Plan Total Options

Shares under option at 31 December 2004 192,686 3,922,502 – 4,115,188
Options granted – 4,249,394 6,506,309 10,755,703
Options lapsed/cancelled (28,841) (3,813,544) – (3,842,385)

At 31 December 2005 163,845 4,358,352 6,506,309 11,028,506

Exercise price per share (pence) 252 14.5 159 –
Weighted average exercise price per share (pence) 252 14.5 159 –

The opening option positions at 31 December 2004 have been adjusted to reflect the change in the nominal value of the ordinary shares, as
noted above.

The outstanding options at 31 December 2005 were granted as follows:

Exercise Price Exercise 2005 2004
Date of Grant (Pence) Period Numbers Numbers

11 April 2001 252 2002 – 2011 163 845 192,686
8 June 2004 14.5 2004 – 2014 108,958 3,922,502
9 November 2005 14.5 2005 – 2015 4,249,394 –
13 December 2005 159 2005 – 2015 6,506,309 –

11,028,506 4,115,188

Certain of the share options are subject to performance criteria.
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20 Capital and Reserves
Called Up Share Profit and

Share Premium Other Loss
Capital Account Reserves Account Total

Group £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2005 3,270 6,207 – (10,230) (753)
Reclassification of preference shares as liabilities under FRS 25 (3,156) (6,207) – (1,013) (10,376)
Conversion of preference shares to ordinary shares 3,739 – 10,960 – 14,699
New ordinary share capital issued 348 27,384 – – 27,732
Expenses of share issues – (1,964) – – (1,964)
Issue of warrants – – 158 – 158
Loss for the year – – – (11,733) (11,733)

At 31 December 2005 4,201 25,420 11,118 (22,976) 17,763

Called Up Share Profit and
Share Premium Other Loss

Capital Account Reserves Account Total
Company £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2005 3,270 6,207 – (1,615) 7,862
Reclassification of preference shares as liabilities under FRS 25 (3,156) (6,207) – (1,013) (10,376)
Conversion of preference shares to ordinary shares 3,739 – 10,960 – 14,699
New ordinary share capital issued 348 27,384 – – 27,732
Expenses of share issues – (1,964) – – (1,964)
Issue of warrants – – 158 – 158
Loss for the year – – – (5,516) (5,516)

At 31 December 2005 4,201 25,420 11,118 (8,144) 32,595

21  Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities
2005 2004
£’000 £’000

Operating loss (9,784) (5,651)
Amortisation of goodwill 1,281 687
Depreciation and amortisation of licences 171 244
Increase in stocks (171) (144)
Increase in debtors (267) (67)
Increase in creditors 1,133 614

Net cash outflow from operating activities (7,637) (4,317)

22  Reconciliation of Net Cash Flow to Movement in Net (Debt)/Funds
2005 2004
£’000 £’000

Increase/(decrease) in cash in period 16,839 (706)
Net cash movement in loans and preference share liabilities (1,200) –

Changes in net debt resulting from cash flows 15,639 (706)
Non-cash changes:
Conversion of loans to equity 1,550 –
Reclassification of preference share interests as liabilities (11,707) –
Conversion of preference shares to ordinary shares 14,699 –

Movement in net funds in period 20,181 (706)
Net debt at 1 January (3,839) (3,133)

Net debt at 31 December 16,342 (3,839)

Major non-cash items
Preference share net proceeds and appropriations were reclassified to liabilities and then converted to ordinary shares within the year. They
increased from £10,376,000 at 1 January 2005 by appropriation of £1,489,000 (note 7) and the net proceeds of a preference share issue of
£2,834,000 to the £14,699,000 on conversion to ordinary shares.

A loan of $2.7 million advanced to the Company during the year by Camden Partners LLP was settled through the issue of 975,972 ordinary
shares of 2 pence each on 13 December 2005.
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23 Analysis of Net Cash/(Debt)
Reclassification

31 December Under FRS 25 Cash Non-cash 31 December
2004 and Appropriations Movements Movements 2005
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash at bank and in hand 20 – 16,322 – 16,342
Bank overdraft (517) – 517 – –
Bank loan (1,400) – 1,400 – –
Loans (1,942) – 392 1,550 –
Preference share liabilities – (11,707) (2,992) 14,699 –

(3,839) (11,707) 15,639 16,249 16,342

24 Reconciliation of Movements in Group Shareholders’ Funds
2005 2004
£’000 £’000

Loss for the financial period (11,733) (7,964)
Dividends credited to reserves – 865
Cash dividend retained – 426
Reclassification of preference share interests as liabilities under FRS 25 (10,376) –
Conversion of preference shares and loan to ordinary shares 16,250 –
Warrant reserve created 158 –
New share capital issued, including premium 26,181 4,656
Expenses of share issues (1,964) (549)

Net change in shareholders’ funds 18,516 (2,566)
Opening shareholders’ (deficit)/funds (753) 1,813

Closing shareholders’ funds/(deficit) 17,763 (753)

25  Related Party Disclosures

Liabilities
During 2005 Camden Partners LLP advanced a total of $2.7 million to the Company. Interest on this advance of $218,671 was paid in
December and the capital element was settled through the issue of 975,927 ordinary shares of 2 pence each on 13 December 2005. Camden
Partners LLP is a major shareholder owning 26.1% of the Company’s shares at 31 December 2005.

A loan of £1,942,000 had been advanced by Lion Capital Partners plc (“LCP”) and was repaid on 14 December 2005 together with interest of
£235,000. LCP was a shareholder and had common directors. Unpaid interest on the loan at 31 December 2004 was £143,000.

Fees Payable
In respect of fund raising advice in the period ended 30 June 2005 fees of £23,500 were paid to A B Canning, a Director of the Company, 
and £21,150 to CapitalinQ Limited, a company controlled by A B Canning.

In the prior period fees and related costs were paid as follows.

£291,421 of fees and £117,500 of expenses in connection with fund raising activities and £264,375 of fees and £58,750 of expenses for
general corporate finance advice were paid to Lion Capital Advisers Limited (a company which was a shareholder and had common directors).

£29,375 of fees to British Linen Bank (a shareholder in the Company) in connection with the restructuring. 

Agreements
In October 2005 the Company and Boston Scientific B.V. entered into an agreement for no consideration whereby Boston Scientific B.V. was
granted a right of first refusal in respect of a sale of any of the shares in Anson Medical Limited or the business or assets of Anson Medical
Limited. This right will expire on the earlier of: Boston Scientific B.V. reducing its holding in Company shares by more than 25% of those held on
13 December 2005; and 90 days after receipt of FDA approval for Aorfix™ endovascular stent graft for the treatment of AAA.

An amendment to the Distribution Agreement described below with Boston Scientific Limited was signed in October 2005 granting Boston
Scientific an extension to 30 August 2006 to its option to take up distribution rights over the Company’s AAA and TAA products outside the USA. 

The Company issued 44,609,665 B preference shares to Boston Scientific International B.V. in October 2004 and entered into distribution and
licence agreements with this shareholder as noted below.
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25 Related Party Disclosures continued

Distribution Agreement
Under the Distribution Agreement, the Company has granted Boston Scientific an option to enter into an initial five-year term during which
Boston Scientific will market the Company’s AAA and TAA products (including any associated products and improvements) in Europe and the
rest of the world (other than the USA). The agreement contains provisions for automatic renewal on successive three-year terms unless notice
of non-renewal is served.

Technology Licence Agreement
The Company has agreed to enter into the terms of the Technology Licence Agreement under which it has granted Boston Scientific a non-
exclusive worldwide technology licence relating to the Company’s inflatable graft technology to remain in effect for the duration of the patent
rights contained in the licensed technology.

26  Financial Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

At 31 December 2005 the Group was committed to make the following payments during the next year in respect of operating leases:

2005 2004
Land and 2005 Land and 2004
Buildings Other Buildings Other

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Expiring within one year 36 1 15 24
Expiring between two and five years inclusive 125 – 125 –

161 1 140 24

27  Post Balance Sheet Events

The Company’s dormant subsidiary Lombard Medical Plc was put into members’ voluntary liquidation with effect from 28 February 2006. 
The reason for this was to allow the minority shareholders to receive their share of the proceeds of £25.1 million from the sale of Lombard
Medical Plc’s assets and business to Lombard Medical Technologies PLC in September 2004. £1.8 million will be distributed and is to be
funded by the Group.

28  Ultimate Controlling Party

The Directors consider that there is no one ultimate controlling party of the Company.
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stent graft
A tubular device made of fabric attached to an expandable metal
structure. Once the metal is expanded, the device forms a rigid tube.

thoracic aortic aneurysm or TAA
Balloon-like enlargement of the aorta in the region of the thorax
(occurring in the length of the aorta between the heart and the
diaphragm).

uni-iliac stent graft
A stent graft that includes only a single iliac branch. This is a non-
branching tube device that occludes one of the iliac arteries.
Consequently, the implant procedure includes grafting from one
femoral artery to the other to restore full circulation.

urology
The branch of medicine that deals with the urinary tract and the
urogenital tract.

Glossary

abdominal aortic aneurysm or AAA
Balloon-like enlargement of the aorta in the region of the abdomen
(occurring in the length of the aorta between the diaphragm and iliac
bifurcation).

aneurysm
Balloon-like enlargement of a blood vessel resulting from a weakening
in the vessel wall.

aorta
The main artery of the body from which all others derive.

bifurcated
A structure that branches into two separate similar structures.

CE Mark
The manufacturer’s declaration, following appropriate assessment
by a CE Notified Body, that the product conforms to the essential
requirements of the relevant European health, safety and
environmental protection legislations. Once awarded, the CE Mark
permits the marketing of the product throughout the European Union.

co-morbidities
The presence of two or more diseases in an individual patient.

contra-indicated
The prevention of the application of a given medical treatment option
due to the medical history or status of the patient.

drug eluting 
Controlled release of one or more drugs by a chemical complex, such
as a polymer coating.

endoleak
Leakage of blood beyond the stent graft into the space between the
outer stent wall and the wall of the blood vessel.

endostapler
A stapling instrument used endoscopically for the purposes of fixing
tissues to other tissues or devices.

endovascular stent graft
A stent graft that is deployed through a minimally invasive procedure,
accessing the target vessel through the femoral arteries.

FDA
US Food and Drug Administration.

femoral artery
A large artery that extends from the external iliac artery in the region
of the lower abdomen and descends into the thigh.

iliac arteries
A pair of large arteries branching off the aorta in the region of the
lower abdomen which supply blood to the pelvis and legs.

Investigational Device Exemption or IDE
An approval by the FDA for a device that permits its use in a clinical
study to collect the safety and effectiveness data required for an
application to market the device.

nitinol
An alloy of nickel and titanium that, once initially set in a defined
shape, returns to that shape following distortion.
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